# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 76,050

RICHARD ANDERS and WILLIAM HOOD,

Respondents.

## INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

**ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH** Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

### JOHN TIEDEMANN

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 319422 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Petitioner

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the prosecuting authority and appellant in the appended <u>State v. Anders</u>, 15 FLW D1009 (Fla. 4th DCA April 18, 1990), review granted, Case No. 76,050 (Fla 1990). Respondents, Richard Anders and William Hood, were the criminal defendants and appellees below.

References to the two volume record on appeal will be designated "(R: )".

The State will discuss the two interrelated issues on certiorari conjunctively.

All emphasis, unless otherwise indicated, will be supplied by the State.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On May 4, 1988, the State filed an information in the Broward County Circuit charging respondents with Court trafficking in 400 or more grams of cocaine the previous April 19 (R 30). Both respondents filed lengthy motions to dismiss the charges on grounds that their rights to due process of law secured by Article I, Section 9 of the Constitution of the State of Florida had been violated by the State's conduct leading to their arrests under State v. Glosson, 462 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1985) and Hunter v. State, 531 So.2d 239 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), review granted, Case No. 73,230 (Fla. 1988) (R 31-211). A hearing was held on respondents' motions before Judge Thomas Coker on March 10, 1989 (R 1-29).

At this hearing, prosecuting counsel stipulated to the essential accuracy most of the relevant facts contained in the defense discovery depositions which had been attached to respondents' motions (R 19). These depositions reveal that Jorge Livermore was arrested for attempting to buy over 150 pounds of marijuana from City of Plantation Police Officer Paul Liccardo in 1986 (R 51-52; 156). Livermore pled guilty to a charge stemming from this transaction before Judge Patti Henning in November of 1987 (R 54-57; 62). Pursuant to Section 893.135(4), Fla. Stat. (1987), the State had orally offered Livermore the opportunity to render "substantial assistance" to it by making cases against drug dealers not involved in the transaction for which he had been convicted, and hence earn its recommendation that he avoid

the mandatory minimum term of imprisonment he would otherwise definitely receive for his crime (R 66; 99; 17). With verv minimal guidance from law enforcement, Livermore thus approached Patrick Walsh, a known cocaine seller, with a story that an Eastern Airlines employee of his acquaintance had discovered a bag containing 20 kilograms of cocaine while on duty and desired to sell it (R 76-78). Walsh brought respondent Anders, whom Livermore had seen snorting cocaine and from whom Livermore had once bought a bag of marijuana, into the negotiations (R 75-81; 86-87; 94; 108). Eventually, Livermore and Anders reached an agreement whereby Livermore would deliver the 20 kilograms of cocaine to Anders and his associate respondent Hood, who had also dealt in drugs in the past, in exchange for at least \$40,000 (R 81; 93; 99; 129). Livermore sought to interest the federal Drug Enforcement Agency, with which he had arranged one small set-up in the past, in the pending deal, but the DEA declined involvement based upon Anders' lack of a criminal record and its dislike for reverse stings (R 56-58; 66; 85-86). Livermore then approached Detective Dennis Cracraft of the Broward County Sheriff's Office, to whom he had been referred by Officer 125; 159-160). Liccardo (R Cracraft approved Livermore's scenario, and checked out 20 kilograms of cocaine from the sheriff's laboratory so that he could convincingly pose as Livermore's hypothetical airline employee (R 132-137). On April 19, respondents Anders and Hood arrived in a parking lot with a large amount of cash and were in the process of consummating the deal with Cracroft when they were arrested at his direction (R

83-84; 138-141). Very shortly thereafter, the State certified to Judge Henning that Livermore had provided "substantial assistance," and he was sentenced to two years on community control (R 62-63; 101).

On these facts, Judge Coker granted respondents' motions to dismiss, citing to <u>State v. Glosson</u>, <u>Hunter v. State</u>, and <u>State</u> <u>v. Evans</u>, 537 So.2d 638 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988), review granted, Case No. 73,779 (Fla. 1989) (R 217-222). The State's timely appeal to the Fourth District (R 223) resulted in an affirmance and the certification to this Court of the same two questions of great public importance earlier certified in Hunter v. State:

> DOES AN AGREEMENT WHEREBY A CONVICTED DRUG TRAFFICKER WILL RECEIVE A SUBSTANTIALLY REDUCED SENTENCE IN EXCHANGE FOR SETTING UP NEW DRUG DEALS AND TESTIFYING FOR THE STATE VIOLATE THE HOLDING IN STATE V. GLOSSON?

> ASSUMING THE EXISTENCE OF A DUE PROCESS VIOLATION UNDER <u>GLOSSON</u>, DOES <u>GLOSSON'S</u> HOLDING EXTEND TO A CODEFENDANT WHO WAS NOT THE DIRECT TARGET OF THE GOVERNMENT'S AGENT?

State v. Anders, 15 FLW D1008, 1011 note 3. On May 29, 1990, this Court ordered the parties to submit briefs on the merits of these certified questions.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District incorrectly decided in State v. Anders that the judge below did not reversibly err by granting respondents' motions to dismiss the drug trafficking charges against them on state constitutional due process grounds. Hunter v. State, the decision upon which the lower courts primarily relied, may well be reversed by this Court. Even if Hunter is upheld, however, that case is distinguishable from this because this informant's action in rendering "substantial assistance" to the State by making new drug cases was statutorily authorized; because it was not attended by either undue pressure or threats; because respondents had a history of involvement in narcotics; and finally because respondents were brought into the instant transaction by a third party rather than by the informant.

#### **ISSUE (REPHRASED)**

## THE FOURTH DISTRICT REVERSIBLY ERRED BY UPHOLDING THE LOWER COURT'S DISMISSAL OF THE NARCOTICS CHARGES AGAINST RESPONDENTS

#### ARGUMENT

As noted, respondents convinced both the judge and the appellate court below that the dismissal of the cocaine trafficking charges against them was mandated under this Court's decision in <u>State v. Glosson</u> as interpreted by the Fourth District <u>Hunter v. State</u>. As also noted, this Court has accepted jurisdiction to review <u>Hunter</u> on the merits, and the State is of course contending there that the Fourth District decided that case incorrectly. Since the reversal of <u>Hunter</u> would require a reversal of the instant appeal,<sup>1</sup> the State respectfully submits

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Any attempt by respondents to distinguish a reversed <u>Hunter</u> on grounds that that case involved law enforcement's facilitation of a narcotics transaction by furnishing the cash rather than the drugs would be uncompelling. In Burch v. State, 558 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1990), this Court approved the decision of the Fourth District in State v. Burch, 545 So.2d 279, 283 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) that the mere police practice of "lur[ing] drug buyers or sellers....[into consummating narcotics deals is] not outrageous as a matter of law" and hence does not constitute a due process violation. Accord, <u>State v. McQueen</u>, 501 So.2d 631, 633-634 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), review denied, 513 So.2d 1062 (Fla. 1987); see also <u>United States v. Lane</u>, 693 F.2d 385, 387-388 (5th Cir. Furthermore, any attempt by respondents to circumvent a 1982). reversed Hunter on grounds that they were objectively entrapped as a matter of law under Cruz v. State, 465 So.2d 516, 522 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 473 U.S. 905 (1985) would likewise be uncompelling since the Florida Legislature abolished this defense before the date of respondents' crimes, see section 777.201, Fla. Stat. (1987); compare Gonzalez v. State, 525 So.2d 1005, 1006 note 1 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988) with Bowser v. State, 14 FLW 2843,

that this Court should await its final disposition of <u>Hunter</u> before disposing of the current case.

However, the State believes that it should prevail in this case even this Court approves the Fourth District's decision in <u>Hunter</u>. In <u>Hunter</u>, the lower appellate court ruled that the State's actions in permitting a convicted narcotics peddler to render "substantial assistance" to it by persistently enticing and threatening those defendants (who had not been his cohorts in the transaction for which he himself had been convicted) into consummating a large cocaine deal, violated the defendants' state constitutional rights to due process of law. <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 531 So.2d 239 240-243.<sup>2</sup> Crucial distinctions exist between that case as it currently stands and this.

At the time of the State's contract with the informant in <u>Hunter</u>, convicted drug defendants were statutorily authorized to provide "substantial assistance" <u>only</u> by incriminating their cohorts in the particular transaction for which they had been convicted. See section 893.135(3), Fla. Stat. (1985). However, at the time of the State's contract with the informant here, convicted drug defendants were statutorily authorized to render

<sup>2844 (</sup>Fla. 2nd DCA December 13, 1989); see generally <u>In Re</u> <u>Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases</u>, 543 So.2d 1205, 1208 note \*, 1209-1210 (Fla. 1989).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The Court will note that the State is disputing on certiorari the Fourth District's factual finding on appeal in <u>Hunter</u>, upon conflicting evidence adduced at trial, that those defendants were coerced into consummating the narcotics transaction for which they were convicted ("Initial Brief of Petitioner on the Merits" in <u>State v. Hunter</u>, Florida Supreme Court Case No. 73,230, pages 5-6, 8, 14-15; "Reply Brief of Petitioner on the Merits," pages 2, 4).

"substantial assistance" by incriminating <u>any</u> other drug dealer. See section 893.135(4), Fla. Stat. (1987). The Fourth District recently held that the new statute is constitutional on its face. <u>Heaton v. State</u>, 543 So.2d 290 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989). Hence, <u>Hunter</u> cannot be read to hold that the mere State practice of authorizing convicted drug dealers to render "substantial assistance" by making new cases is per se unconstitutional.

What Hunter can and should be read to hold, however, is that any State practice of authorizing a convicted drug dealer to provide "substantial assistance" by making new cases is unconstitutional vis-a-vis his targets if the informant has relied upon persistent enticements and threats to consummate a deal. In the instant case there was no evidence that Livermore was even especially persistent in persuading the respondents to consummate the deal, let alone any evidence of threats. As such, respondents were clearly not entitled to a due process discharge under <u>Hunter</u> as that decision now stands. Compare Khelifi v. State, 15 FLW D1118, 1119 (Fla. 4th DCA April 25, 1990), State v. Giraldo, 15 FLW D1001, 1002 (Fla. 3rd DCA April 17, 1990); but see State v. Embry, 15 FLW D1501 (Fla. 2nd DCA June 1, 1990).

Respondents will doubtlessly protest that their due process rights were nonetheless violated by their participation in Livermore's scheme because, although there was evidence that both had some history of involvement with illicit narcotics, there was no evidence that they had engaged in such a massive drug deal in the past. Interestingly, the Fourth District rejected a similar argument in Khelifi v. State, 15 FLW D1118, 1119. Moreover,

inasmuch as it is well-settled that the State may prove a defendant's predisposition in rebuttal of a subjective entrapment defense by showing either that the defendant had previously committed illegal acts similar to that for which he is on trial or that the defendant readily acquiesced to committing the acts for which he is on trial, <u>State v. Wheeler</u>, 468 So.2d 9978, 981 (Fla. 1985), respondents' contention should fail. Compare <u>Taffer</u> <u>v. State</u>, 504 So.2d 436 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1987), cause dismissed, 506 So.2d 1043 (Fla. 1987).

Furthermore, the fact remains that respondents were not even directly brought into the instant scheme by the State's informant Livermore; as noted, respondent Hood was brought in by respondent Anders, who had been brought in by Patrick Walsh. As a general rule, "the doctrine of entrapment is inapplicable where the inducement comes from a non-agent private citizen." State v. Perez, 438 So.2d 436, 438 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983). Although the State realizes that the Fourth District implied to the contrary in Hunter, there is no compelling reason why the foregoing rules limiting a defendant's reliance upon the doctrine of entrapment should not also apply to limit his reliance upon the related doctrine of due process. See State v. Garcia, 529 So.2d 76 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988), review denied, 536 So.2d 244 (Fla. 1988) and State v. Scott, 546 So.2d 781 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989). Indeed, this Court has recognized that in one sense at least, an entrapment analysis "parallels a due process analysis." Cruz v. State, 465 So.2d 516, 520 note 2.

It follows that the courts below reversibly erred by ordering respondents discharged, and that this cause must consequently be remanded for trial.

#### CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE petitioner, the State of Florida, respectfully submits that this Honorable Court should REVERSE the decision under review and REMAND this cause for trial.