IN	THE SUPREME COURT OF FLOR	IDA
	CASE NO. 76,050	SID J. WHITE
	STATE OF FLORIDA,	JUL 16 1990
	Petitioner,	A SAN WE COULD
	VS.	BA BANKY Clerk
	RICHARD ANDERS,	U
	Respondent	

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

PAMELA I. PERRY, ESQUIRE BIERMAN, SHOHAT & LOEWY, P.A. Attorneys for Respondent CourtHouse Center, Suite 1730 175 N.W. First Avenue Miami, Florida 33128-1835 (305) 358-7000

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Respondent respectfully rejects the statement of facts provided by the State. The trial court, the Honorable Thomas N. Coker, after conducting a lengthy hearing in which the State stipulated to the essential correctness of the depositions^{1/} that formed the basis of the hearing (R. 1-19), entered a lengthy and detailed order. (R.2 217-222). The Respondent thus relies on the court's order as the statement of facts, as they constitute the trial court's findings, which were not disputed by the State. The Respondent will recite in full the findings of fact and conclusions of law in the trial court's order since the State's statement of facts is somewhat at variance with the trial court's findings:

ORDER ON DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS

This Order is in the Record at R.2 217-222.

* * * *

FINDINGS OF FACT

The Defendant RICHARD ANDERS as arrested on April 19, 1988. On May 5, 1988, an Information was filed in the Circuit Court of Broward County charging ANDERS with trafficking in cocaine in violation of Florida Statute 893.135(1)(b)(3) and Florida Statute 893.03(2)(a)(4). ANDERS' conviction would carry a minimum mandatory 15 years imprisonment without parole and a \$250,000 fine.

^{1/} The prosecuting attorney below attended the discovery deposition of Jorge Livermore, the informant in this cause, whose testimony formed the basis of Anders' motion to dismiss.

In all material respects ANDERS' arrest stemmed directly from the efforts of a confidential informant named Jorge Livermore. Livermore had been arrested by the Plantation Police Department and charged with trafficking in 190 pounds of marijuana and possession of a hand gun. For his crimes, Livermore faced a three year minimum mandatory sentence at the time of his arrest.

In order to avoid his minimum mandatory sentence, Livermore made an agreement with the prosecutor that he would set-up an unspecified number of persons in order to lower his sentence. The agreement never was reduced to writing. Initially, Livermore cooperated with the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA), with the understanding that his cooperation with the DEA would be credited as part of his cooperation with the State.

Livermore's initial cooperation with the DEA resulted in the arrest of a person wholly unrelated to the instant case after Livermore purchased one kilogram of cocaine from him. After procuring this one kilogram arrest, Livermore pled guilty to attempted trafficking in front of the Honorable Patti Englander Henning. However, Judge Henning was unwilling to sentence Livermore to community control based on this one kilogram arrest. Instead Livermore was told that to avoid serving any time in prison, he would have to make additional arrests. He was given no other guidance with respect to the additional arrests he would have to make except that the State Attorney made him aware that he would

have to do more cooperation in order to further reduce his sentence and that he would have to make a Broward County case.

Livermore was given a performance deadline, a time limit in which he would have to procure more arrests in order to keep himself out of jail. In deposition, Livermore stated "if I didn't perform in "X" amount of time, I would be looking at 18 months [in jail]." (Deposition of Livermore at p. 20). According to Livermore, he felt pressured to provide other arrests.

Other than requiring an arrest in Broward County, Livermore was not given any guidelines or restrictions, oral or written, to guide his cooperation activities. He never was told to avoid entrapping others or, indeed, anything at all about how to deal or what to say to potential targets.^{2/}

2/ At deposition, Livermore's described his activities as follows:

Q: So, you simply went out in the community and went fishing; fair statement?

Livermore: Fair Statement.

Q: And you fished for a 10 kilo deal; correct?

Livermore: That is what popped into my head.

(Deposition of Livermore at p. 22)

* * *

Q: Did he [the prosecutor] put any other restrictions on your future cooperation, other than it would have to be for Broward County? (continued...)

During this time, Livermore used what he dubbed "<u>his</u> creativity" and concocted a story that he had friends who worked at Eastern Airlines (where Livermore had, in fact, worked) who had found 20 kilograms of cocaine and were willing to sell it for Seven Thousand Dollars (\$7,000) a kilogram for resale at a higher amount. He stated that <u>he decided</u> to conduct a reverse sting in which he would offer drugs for money rather than money for drugs, because he "just felt personally would be <u>easier</u> to set-up a case that way." <u>He</u> also chose the weight that he would offer.

Livermore first contacted Patrick Walsh, a person with whom he had worked at a Miami stock brokerage house. Livermore had seen Walsh supply small personal use amounts of cocaine to people in a

 $\frac{2}{(\dots \text{continued})}$

Livermore: (Witness shaking head)...No. (Deposition of Livermore at p. 19-20).

* * *

Q: Were there any other restrictions put on you in terms of your performance.
Livermore: No.
Q: So you basically were told to go out there and "bring us something else?"
Livermore: Yes.
Q: And that's what you did?
Livermore: Exactly.

(Deposition of Livermore at p. 21).

few isolated instances, but admitted that he went to him with this trafficking-quantity deal as just a shot in the dark:

Q: Is it a fair statement that in an effort to fulfill your obligation with the State of Florida, you decided, "I am going to go to Walsh and see if I can develop anything there."?

Livermore: Correct. (Deposition of Livermore at p. 30-1)

Livermore then had lunch with Walsh and told him his Eastern Airlines story and offered him 20 kilograms of cocaine for Seven Thousand Dollars (\$7,000) a kilogram. Walsh said that he would consider the deal and get back to him.

According to Livermore, the next thing he knew, ANDERS was "in the middle of the picture. ...All of a sudden, [ANDERS] is involved with it and [Walsh] -- I am not talking to [Walsh] anymore. I am talking to Rick." Livermore had not seen Walsh or ANDERS for seven or eight months before he approached them with the reverse sting. ANDERS told him that he knew a man from out-of-town who sometimes went to West Palm Beach who might be interested in the narcotics. This person turned out to be Defendant Hood.

Livermore had no reason to believe that ANDERS ever had engaged in drug trafficking. In fact, Livermore, stated that just as he knew that Walsh had never dealt quantity of drugs before, all that he knew about ANDERS was that ANDERS and he had "smoked a

couple of joints of marijuana" and he once bought a very small amount of marijuana from ANDERS. After several phone calls with ANDERS, Livermore felt that he had sufficiently interested ANDERS in the transaction and he contacted the DEA to tell them about the deal he had put together. However, the DEA declined to pursue the case because they had checked ANDERS and Walsh's name and found no criminal background on either and "didn't normally do cases like this." (Deposition of Livermore at p. 39).

After the DEA refused to work with Livermore, he approached Plantation Detective Paul Liccardo, the Detective with whom he had originally worked. Liccardo introduced Livermore to Detective Joe Hoffman and Detective Dennis Cracraft of the Broward County Sheriff's Department. Unlike the DEA, the detectives were interested in consummating the deal. Cracraft and Hoffman met once with Livermore and Livermore told them about the Eastern Airlines story he had used to lure Walsh and ANDERS. The detectives agreed to go along with the scenario. The detectives did not ask Livermore if ANDERS had any criminal background or if he had any reason to believe that they were involved in narcotics trafficking. In addition, Livermore was never given any guidelines with respect to how to behave with ANDERS. The detectives never told Livermore what he could or could not say or how to avoid entrapment. The detectives also never told Livermore to wear a body bug, never offered to substitute for him during the transaction, and never

took any steps to surveil Livermore as he met with the Defendants. (Court Order continued...)

As a result of Livermore's totally free reign, he is the only witness to his contacts with ANDERS; there exists no way beyond a potential swearing contest, to dispute what Livermore might say about these contacts.

As Livermore's sentencing date of April 20 was rapidly approaching, Livermore had to press the officers and Defendants to consummate the transaction so that it occurred before his sentencing. Ultimately, after one failed transaction, ANDERS and co-defendant Hood drove to a pre-arranged location in Fort Lauderdale where the cocaine was produced by the officers and the Defendants were arrested.

The very next day, Livermore was placed on community control, given a withhold of adjudication and permission to carry a firearm. He was also promised that his employer would not be informed of his arrest. At the moment that ANDERS and Hood headed to the Broward County Jail, Livermore walked away from jail forever.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Florida precedent teaches that due process will not allow law enforcement officers to place informants under ultimatum and set them about the community to find other citizens to arrest. <u>State v.</u> <u>Glosson</u>, 462 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1985); <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 531 So.2d 239 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), <u>cert. granted</u>, <u>So.2d</u> (Fla. 1989). Such agreements are an invitation to perjury. <u>Id</u>.

Thus, due process of law will not tolerate the law enforcement techniques employed in this case. Sending an untrained informant out into the community, with no control, no supervision and not one word of quidance or limitation about whom he may approach or what should do was an invitation to trouble. Livermore's he uncontrolled activities in this case are ever more egregious than the activities in Glosson and Hunter. Here, Livermore was allowed to create a trafficking offense and offender where none previously existed, to engage in negotiations the contents of which no independent witness can verify, and, finally, to determine the potential mandatory prison term and fine the Defendant will face by selecting the amount of drugs to be sold. Due process is offended See also, State v. Evans, 14 FLW 140 (2nd DCA on these facts. January 13, 1989).

[END TRIAL COURT FINDINGS]

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly dismissed the charges against Anders on State constitutional due process grounds. The law enforcement efforts in this case ran afoul of even the most rudimentary concepts of fundamental due process. As the trial court found, the capricious freedom with which the informant was permitted to act and the pernicious incentive that prompted his unguided activities and resulted in this reverse sting far transcended the behavior condemned in <u>State v. Glosson</u>, 462 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1980) and <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 531 So.2d 239 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), <u>review granted</u>, Case No. 73,230 (Fla. 1988).